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Holme's Brewery

The Brantford Expositor Anniversary Number (I877 to I927)
talks about John Read's map of I824 which showed a distillery
and brewery site in the village of Brantford near the bridge
which crossed the Grand River at Colborne Street. It says th-
at they were both located on the north side of Colborne Street
in what today is still refered to as Holmedale,l

In October of 1836, William Holme had his brewery advertis-
ed for rent and the ad indicated that it had been erected abo-
ut two years previously.2 It consisted of a brewery, malthouse
and granary and was, according to the ad, about a half mile fr-
om the Town of Brantford. It is unknown who, if anyone, took it
up but by the I840s it was occupied by Philip Austin. He brewed
in it until it was destroyed by fire in October of 1844.3 The
fire left him penniless, having had no insurance on the contents.
William Holme did not rebuild. Philip Austin remained in Brant-
ford and may have worked in William Spencer's brewery. He died

in a St. Catharines hotel in March 1846 of unknown causes.4
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William Spencer's Brewery

William Spencer was born in Lancashire, England, in about I7-
88.5 He had emigrated to Upper Canada in the early nineteenth ce-
ntury where he settled in the Village of Brantford. On the twent-
ieth of August 1833 he received the crown patent for lot 23, sou-
th of Colborne and east of Market Streets (Plan of the City of
Brantford).6 By the mid-I830s,he had a dry goods and grocery sto-
re as well as a brewery built on this lot and did seasonal ale

and porter brewing here for twenty years.

In 1855, he and his two sons Hugh and Thomas built a large, new
brewery in West Brantford and the old Colborne Street factory was
shut down.7 It was used as a tennery by William Spencer for some
time in the middle of the 18605.8 On August I6, 1867, he died at
seventy-nine years of age and the brewery was rented to George As-
hworth, a stocking weaver by trade.g In October of 1869;it was ad-
vertised for sale as a bfewery and from this ad we get a general
description., It was a substantial, stone building complete with

malting floors, kiln and fire proof cellars.Io

Ellen Popplewell, as Spencer's executor, sold the property in
I874 to Ignatius Cockshutt, a trustee of the Y.M.C.A., and the
0ld brewery was torn down in preparation for the construction of

Brantford's new Y.M.C.A, facility.ll



West Brantford Brewery

Hugh and Thomas Spencer had received their brewing and malt-
ing training from their father William early in the century. Th-
ey had worked in his 0ld Colborne Street brewery until around
1847 when they rented Sarah Lefferty's brewery in East Ward. In
July of 1854,they purchased a four and one-half acre parcel of
land just outside the westerly limits of the then Town of Brant-
ford (part of Brant Farm, Block F)(see map):.[2

Construction had begun on their new brewery that summer and
had been completed to sﬁch a degree by the following spring as
to allow production of ale and porter to begin.13 Their fathef
had financed the venture but that seems to have been his only
connectionlwhile the day to day operations were performed by
Hugh and Thomas, In the summer of I858,the Brantford Weekly Ex-
positor gave a revealing account of Spencer & Sons West Brant-
ford Brewery. The main building was fifty feet wide by one hun-
dred and twenty feet 1ong,fthree storeys high in front and four
in the rear, all of brick, The cellars extended under the entire
building. There was also one other cellar under what was termed
the o0ld brewery which measured thirty by sixty feet. The report-
er commented that the cellars were all filled at the time of his
visit in order to accomodate the summer trade as it was difficult
to brew in the hot summer months. About 4,600 barrels of beer co-
uld be stored at any one time. The whole manufactory was powered
by a twelve horse power steam engine manufactured by Ganson, Wa-
terous & Co., Water for brewing was provided by an overflowing sp-
ring near the top of a hill at the back of the brewery and was

conducted inside by pipe, allowing gravity to be used for distr-
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ibuting it throughout the premises. There was a wagon road along

the hill which matched the upper storey of the brewery and all
materials were loaded and unloaded from here. Around four and one-
half tons of hops were used here annually to produce about $35,000.

00 worth of ale and por't;er.:[4

On August 16, I867, William Spencer died at seventy-nine years
of age.I5 Hugh and Thomas carried on business as Spencer & Sons
following his death until the twenty-fifth of October of that ye-
ar when Hugh withdrew from the partnership.l® He bousht into a
merchandizing business in Brantford which was destroyed by fire
after only seven months. He then took up brick and drain tile ma-
nufacturing until I877 when he purchased a farm near Langford wh-
ere he spent the remainder of his 1ife.I7 Henceforth, the brewing
business was carried on by Thomas Spencer as Spencer & Son. Some
of his products at this time were X, XX, and XXX ale and porter

put up in kegs and stone bottles,l®

After having purchased Hugh's interest in the property in 1872,
Thomas took a mortgage of over $I0,000.00 from Humphrey Davis.19
This new money was applied toward the addition of increased cap-
acity. Despite this, his heavy debt burden seems to have been the
undoing of his business for by Pebruary 1875 he was in receiver-
ship.zo All of his property and equipment was sold on March 7, I8-
75, by auction to Humphrey Davis and Ignatius Cockshutt, as prin-

cipal creditors.21 Thomas Spencer left Brantford shortly after
.for St. Marys, Ontario- where he took up the Spring Hill Brewery.22
He died there on September 30, I875, at fifty years of age.23 His
oldest son William returned to Brantford, eventually taking up em-

ployment in his father's former brewery.
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By the first of May of 1876, George White had moved here from

Stamford, Ontario and had rented the factory for three years, ap-
parently on a profit sharing scheme since Peter J. Pilkey was ma-
naging the company.24 Some of the Brantford Spring Brewery or Br-
antford Brewing and Malting Company (names used interchangeably)
employees at this time were Miles Hogarth (Harriston Brewery); An-
dreas Rau (his Formosa Brewery had burned in I874), Clinton VanBr-
ocklin, Edward Dennis; Frederick Eden (a former Kastner Brewery em-
ployee), George White Jr., George Lambert and Hugh Smith.25 Jose-
ph Jackson, a Brantford bailiff, and Abram N, Duncombe (Joseph Ja-
ckson & Co.), trading as the Brantford Brewing and Malting Company,
had taken a lease from Humphrey Davis by 1879.26 Around the end

of I880 or the beginning of 1881, Abram Duncombe had withdrawn fr-
om the firm and in February, Joseph Jackson was advertising for a
partner with two or three thousand dollars to invest.27 He was ev-
idently unsuccessful since by July of the following year he was of-

28

fering his business and lease for sale. This ad also drew a neg-

ative response and brewing was carried on by Jackson until about I8-

84.

The buildings went through a succession of different leasees, in-
cluding Robert MeGill, Robert H. Laid and F.J. Young, all soda wat-
er manufacturers.29 John C, Palmer had come into possession of the
property in I890 and he would eventually lose it to the Royal Loan

and Savings Company in 1899.30

In May of I900, the Royal Loan and
Savings Company sold the brewery and property to the Bixel Brewing
and Malting Company Limited for $I,7O5.OO.3I It is not clear if

they in fact did some brewing and malting here or had simply bou-
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ght it to prevent a competitbr from Opéning a rival brewery. In
any event, their tenure was short-lived as they so0ld it to Fred
Westbrook and Charles Hacker in June of 1903.32 Fred Westbrook
had undoubtedly been familiar with the brewery since Humphrey Da-
vis had been living with his father for a number of years prior

to his death in November of I888.33

Westbrook and Hacker had little firsthand knowledge or exper-
ience in the brewing and malting industry. Westbrook had been
born of Ozkland Township farming parents in 1864.34 He and Char-
les Hacker of Providencé, Rhode Island had teamed up as perfo-
rming bicycle riders and had been touring North America and Eur-
ope with P.T, Barnum's Circus.35 Fred Westbrook had married his
partner's sister in 1887.36 By the fall of 1903, extensive alter-
ations and repairs had begun on their brewery in order to prepare
for the resumption of brewing.37 Their first brewing took place

in late December and their ale and porter was considered first ra-
te.38

On January 3I, 1906, Fred Westbrook and Charles Hacker had the
Brantford Brewing Company Limited provincialiy chartered. It was
capitalized at $I00,000.00 and the first provisional directors we-
re Fred Westbrook, Charles Hacker and Hiram Thorne Westbrook (Fred's
father), Mattie Westbrook and Norman and Charlotte Hacker were also
shareholders.39 Fred Westbrook served as President while Charles
Hacker held the position of Vice-President. Ten men and a few wo-

40

men as clerical staff were employed here at this time. A new ma-

lthouse was constructed in I908 and malt became one of their prod-

ucts for the first time.4I

Westbrook and Hacker's brewery came to an untimely end on July
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23, I9I0. Between eleven and twelve o'clock in the morning, 2

fire in the malt kiln jumped to the surrounding factory. Fred
Westbrook was in the area and when the alarm was sounded by one
of the workmen, he proceeded to the malting department at full
speed but by this time the fire had spread beyond control, For-
tunately, some of the employees in the Brantford Screw Works
just down the street had seen the flames and by eleven twenty-
five had put in a general alarm., By the time the firemen had ar-
rived, the entire building was in flames and to add to an already
desperate situation, the only hydrant nearby had it's connection
broken in the excitement. When it was over, only the walls rema-
ined with losses exceeding $50,000.00 of which $I7,000.00 of in-
surance was available. Some office books and furniture was all

that was rescued.42

Their brewery was never rebuilt and the company was eventually
dissolved, Charles Hacker went into the hotel business, buying
the Imperial Hotel on the corner of King and Dalhousie Streets
in Brantford.43 Fred Westbrook, on the other hand, moved to St.
Thomas, Gakee i 1914 where he bought the Rudolph and Begg
Brewing Company's brewery.44 After it was closed by prohibition
he returned to Brantford and purchased the Belmont Hotel.45



Bixel's Brewery 5

John Warren Lefferty of Drummondville C.W. bought the brewery
lot on the east side of Alfred Street, north of the Canal (see
Plan), from Mary Ann Kerr's estate in the 18408.46 After his de-
ath, Sarah Johnston Lefferty (spinster) became owner and it was
from her that Hugh and Thomas Spencer rented the brewery in 1847.47
They were the sons of William Spencer who had been brewing on Co-
lborne Street since the I1830s and had undoubtedly learned their
trade from their father. They worked this brewery until the spr-
ing of 1855 when their new brewery on Strawberry Hill (west side

of Brantford) was completed at which time they moved there.48

In May of I855, Sarah Lefferty advertised her brewery for rent
and from this ad comes a brief description of the property. The
main building was made of brick and had a malt room, full cell-
ars and employee's kitchen and bedrooms on the premises., Excell-
ent spring water was available on site.49 It is unclear if it was
rented that year but certainly was by I856 when George White had
taken it up.so In fact, when Sarah Lefferty of Drummondville so-
1d her property to James Oswald of Stamford C.W. in I857, George
White and a Mr. McCleash (Buffalo brewer) were still renting it.SI
George White had ceased to brew here in about I860 and the brew-
ery was subsequently rented to Thomas Tate.52 He seems to have
operated it for about a year then it sat idle for a few years. In
October of 1863, John Lowes, Oswald's agent, had it advertised
for sale. Here, we get a more concise description of the brewery.
It measured sixty feet long by fifty wide and had one malthouse
which was one hundred feet in length. It was all situated on one

acre of land on the canal in East Brantford.53



On May 28, 1864, James Oswald sold it to Samuel McCulloch who
had it converted into a tannery shortly afterward.54 He carried
on tanning and curring for over ten years until the buildings we-
re destroyed by fire in October I874.°° By I878, McCulloch had
lost the property in chancery to Alexander Bell.56 He sold it on
the first of October to George White who had been working in Spe-
ncer's West Brantford Brewery since the 18603.57 White had the old
brewery rebuilt, probably using the original walls which had been
spared by the fire. Between I880 and IB882, the assesed value of
the property had increased from $500.00 to $I,500.00 suggesting
that the buildings had been rebuilt and were on stream.58 The Br-
antford Spring Brewery (probably named after Stamford Spring Brew-
ery) produced only lager beer.59

George White, along with his sons John and William, brewed he-
re until July of 1886 when the premises was leased to Joseph Luke

& Sons of Tilsonburg, Ontario.GO

They had apparently leased it to
overcome the effects of the Scott Act which had recently been acc-
epted in Oxford County. By 1886, they were advertising ale and po-

rter from their City Brewery which was only capable of brewing la-

6I

ger beer, Perhaps, they had refitted part of the factory as an

ale and porter brewerysbut it seems more probable that they were
merely selling their Tilsonburg products from this factory. In the
meantime, Matthew and Cyrus Bixel of Strathroy, Ontario had pur-
chased the brewery in September of 1886.62 By the fall of 1888,
William Cooper of Strathroy had received the contract for the er-
ection of a new lager beer brewery to be built alongside the old
brewery.63 It was completed that winter and in March of 1889, Os-

car and Arthur Bixel moved here from Strathroy and resumed prod-
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uction of lager beer.64 Both of Matthew Bixel's sons had come to

Brantford with many years of experience in the brewing and malt-
ing business, As boys;they had learned their trade in Ingersoll

before following their father to Strathroy. They had been exposed
to the brewing of ale and porter in the early years;but since the

mid-I870s had only been brewing lager.

On the first of February I890, Matthew Bixel passed away in
Strathroy.65 Within months of his death, the Bixel brothers had
made application for and had received on May 6, a federal charter
for the Bixel Brewing and Malting Company Limited., It was capital-
ized at $I50,000,00 issued in shares of $I00.00 and the provision-
al directors were Cyrus, Oscar and Arthur Bixel. Emily, Dora and
Emma Bixel were also shareholders.66 By June of 1890;they had so-
1d both their Strathroy and Brantford breweries to their new com-
pany, the latter selling for over 380,000.00.67 Cyrus became Pre-
sident, Oscar Vice-President and Arfhur the Secretary-Treasurer.
They carried on business in both locations until the early part
of 1896,then the Sfrathroy brewery was sold.68 Cyrus moved to Br-
antford that saﬁe year and together, they brewed here until proh-
ibition had reduced their business to a trickle in I1920. They we-
re closed until 1924, then reopened under the former name but Fr-
ederick Bixel had become President and Genefél Manager.69 Their
company was re-organized in I929 with a new federal charter at
which time James Cooper became a major shareholder.70 The new Bi-
xel Brewing and Malting Company Limited brewed here until I943
when they were bought out by Canadian Breweries Limited.7I The

factory was closed around I945 and was used for diverse business

purposes until March 12, I979, when it was burned to the ground.72
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